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Senator ALLISON —If I could just follow up on some of the statistics, is it possible to indicate how many detainees are in detention centres because there is no memorandum of understanding with the country of origin? And which countries are they?

Ms Godwin —If I understand your question correctly—perhaps I could seek clarification—are you asking whether there are people that we cannot remove because we have not got a memorandum of understanding?

Senator ALLISON —Yes. They are in detention centres, are they not?

Ms Godwin —Yes, but we do not require memorandums of understanding, generally speaking, to remove people.

Senator ALLISON —Let me put it another way. How many are in detention centres because there are barriers to removing those persons back to their country of origin? 

Ms Godwin —I do not have a figure precisely on that, but if I could say a couple of things: there is a variety of issues to do with removal, ranging from countries to which it is easy to remove people because of the administrative processes that are in place through to countries where it is difficult to remove people, but there are very few places to which it is not possible to make some arrangements. The other point to make is that the Migration Act requires that people be removed from Australia if they have no lawful reason to remain, not necessarily that they go to their country of origin. So if they have got the lawful right of entry somewhere other than their country of origin then they will be able to go there and we would facilitate that. There are a number of people in detention who come from countries that it is difficult to make removal arrangements to, but they have got right of residence somewhere other than that country.

Senator ALLISON —So which are those countries where we do not have those arrangements?

Ms Godwin —It can vary. An obvious example is a country like Iraq. We do not have any direct relations with that country and, therefore, removals in a direct sense are difficult. But a number of people who have come from Iraq at some point have lived in other countries or have got visas for other countries, or whatever. So that is just an example.

Senator ALLISON —So you cannot provide the figures now, but is it possible to indicate how many are in the category of there being no third country willing to take them and their own country we do not have an arrangement with?

Ms Godwin —I would need to take the question on notice.

Senator ALLISON —That is what I am suggesting you do.

Ms Godwin —Yes, but if I could just say I think it is a difficult figure to provide because, in a sense, the way we manage removals, when it comes down to those sorts of circumstance, is on a case-by-case basis.

Senator ALLISON —I understand that. Perhaps if we can have the raw data—that is, the number Australia is sending back, wherever they are going and whose country of origin we do not have an arrangement with. There are those from Iraq. I understand there is a problem with some Vietnamese detainees.

Ms Godwin —Generally speaking, there is not a problem with Vietnam. There has been a problem with some criminal deportation cases.

Senator ALLISON —These are people who have committed a crime in Australia, who have served a jail sentence and who Australia now says must return to Vietnam?

Ms Godwin —Yes.

Senator ALLISON —Is it possible—perhaps the minister can help—to have the rationale for that arrangement? Why it is that, having served a sentence for a crime in Australia, we now require them to be deported?

Mr Metcalfe —If I could anticipate the minister's response, the Migration Act has made provision since 1958 for the deportation of certain persons who commit certain crimes in Australia. Essentially, that provides for people who are not Australian citizens. While there have been changes over time, essentially it is persons who have lived as Australian residents for less than 10 years before they committed a crime that carries a sentence of at least 12 months or longer. The actual decision to order a person's deportation is usually taken by the minister or a very senior officer of the department. At the moment, it is the minister personally who makes those decisions. There are also various appeal rights associated with that. So the issue of criminal deportation is a very longstanding aspect of Australian law and, indeed, the Joint Standing Committee on Migration undertook an inquiry into that particular issue two or three years ago.

Senator ALLISON —And how many countries remain in the category of not accepting those persons?

Mr Metcalfe —The point that I think you are driving at is a complex one—because another aspect of the complexity is that it depends to a certain extent on, in many circumstances, whether the person is willing to cooperate or not. In relation to many countries, if a person is prepared to sign an application form, cooperate with the authorities, provide details of their residence, that country will cooperate. But if the person is not prepared to assist and refuses to complete forms then some countries find it difficult. Australia did sign a memorandum of understanding with Vietnam. In fact, the minister signed that in I think June last year, and that has now led to the deportation or the putting into effect of the deportation of a number of Vietnamese nationals who had committed serious crimes in Australia. That process of deportation is continuing.

Senator ALLISON —If I could go to the Maribyrnong Detention Centre, I visited there recently and was struck by the very high security arrangements in place. I wonder if you can explain in what way the contractors of that detention centre are required to ensure that this is an administrative detention centre and not a criminal detention centre. Is it possible to explain the difference between those arrangements? 

Ms Godwin —I will certainly try to assist. The fundamental issue of immigration detention is that it is for an administrative purpose, not because someone has been convicted of a crime. Generally speaking, what we say to the service provider is that this means that we want people, to the extent possible, to go about their business within the detention centre with as little constriction as possible and with a range of support services and facilities provided to them. But it is a requirement that they are in detention and that they remain in detention; therefore the external security, if you like—the fences and so forth—is designed for that purpose.

The other important point to make is that there is a wide variety of people in detention, including people who have committed serious crimes, who as you say have finished their sentence and who are then the subject of a criminal deportation order. While we work to achieve that criminal deportation, they are required to be held in immigration detention. In the past, we used to work closely with state correction authorities, because there were a number of people who we thought it was more appropriate should remain in a state corrections facility rather than in the immigration detention centre, but in recent times—in the last 12 months or so—state corrections have been taking a much more restrictive line on that and, therefore, we do have people in immigration detention who we are anxious to ensure do not escape into the community. So the external security has to take account of all of those sorts of things. As I said, within the facility the objective is to try to permit people to have a degree of freedom of movement, freedom of association and to be able to participate in activities or not as they choose and so forth. So it is not like a prison where people are locked in their cell at six o'clock at night, the lights are turned off at a particular time and so forth. There is a greater degree of flexibility in an immigration detention centre than you would normally find in a prison. 

Senator ALLISON —Can I ask you about some of what seemed to me to be very high security measures. One was the two-hourly headcounts that took place every night. In fact, some detainees have said this was as frequent as every half hour, depending on which officer was in charge. Given the high level of monitoring, the security cameras and the control room, which is manned 24 hours a day and looks into every corridor and every area beyond the bedrooms and the toilets, why is it necessary for two-hourly headcounts?

Ms Godwin —I would have to take on notice the question about the frequency of the headcounts. I am not aware that they happen that frequently and I would need to check. It is certainly not the case that they happen that frequently in other centres. I would want to check whether that was actually the frequency at Maribyrnong and take that on notice. 

Senator ALLISON —The management in fact said it was at least every two hours but, for reasons of not being too regular, that it was more frequent than that. The booklet which was provided to me, which I understand is provided to detainees, says that there will be two a night and that there will be one at 12 noon and one at 5 p.m. My question arising from that is: how is it that there can be an inconsistent approach if you are surprised that it is as regular as that, and why is it that the department is not aware of that situation?

Ms Godwin —I am not aware of it, because I did not personally check it today— 

Senator ALLISON —I am sorry, I was not meaning you personally. 

Ms Godwin —No, but I am the one responsible. 

Senator ALLISON —Would you expect whoever is DIMIA's representative at Maribyrnong to know this?

Ms Godwin —Yes, I would. It has been true over a period of time that the frequency of headcounts varies in centres, particularly if there has been either an escape or information that there might be an attempt to escape. Musters are necessary to make sure that people are in the centre that we believe ought to be in the centre. As I said, those can vary according to the assessment of the manager or management at a given time about the risk or other information they have that might suggest that they should vary it. So it is not unexpected that it might vary from time to time, and that is why I said I would need to check what the actual frequency was at the moment. 

Senator ALLISON —Are you surprised to hear, too, that during these headcounts, despite the fact that bedrooms have no doors on them and open to a corridor which is relatively lighted and, as I said, is under surveillance, guards use torches? Detainees say the torches are shone in their eyes, the guards say they are shone at the ceiling; but, nonetheless, torches are used. Would you regard both the frequency of the headcounts and the use of torches, the lack of doors and all of the other activity going on as factors which would contribute to a high degree of sleeplessness and therefore the sorts of problems that arise from that?

Ms Godwin —There is a number of elements that you have touched on there. As I said, I would need to check on the actual frequency of the headcounts at this time. There have certainly been instances in other centres where people appear to be in their bed but in fact have later been found not to be. The service provider obviously needs to check whether someone is actually there or not. There is a duty of care issue as much as anything else. The way in which the headcount is conducted, whether a torch is shone on the ceiling and so forth, again is something I would need to check. But, as I said, given that the service provider needs to satisfy themselves that the person is there, it may well be necessary to use torches. So, no, I would not necessarily be completely surprised by that. The other point you make is about sleeplessness. Again, there is a range of factors. We know that there are numbers of detainees who stay up late watching television or playing cards. We do not have a set lights-out or lock-down type of an arrangement as you would in a prison. So there would be a variety of things that might contribute to people's patterns of sleep, if you like. 

Senator BARTLETT —Has there been an escape from Maribyrnong in the last couple of years?

Ms Godwin —I would need to take that on notice. There have certainly been escapes from Maribyrnong— 

Senator BARTLETT —Since the extra security went up?

Ms Godwin —The new fence has been there for only a few months and it was not actually completed until fairly recently. 

Senator BARTLETT —When you talk about people not being in their rooms and that being an occurrence that is not infrequent, what does that usually pan out to be—people going to the toilet, people hanging out watching TV, people wandering around?

Ms Godwin —No. The service provider would be, generally speaking, looking to see if someone is not in their room. But, as I said, there is a duty of care issue: if someone is ill, for example, or is in some part of the centre they should not be, or indeed if there has been an escape. As I said, there is a duty of care consideration through to a security consideration. One of the issues that the service provider has to satisfy themselves of is whether everyone who is supposed to be in the centre is in the centre. We require them to provide us with a headcount, I think, every day. It is provided to central office twice a week, but in the centre we require it every day.

Senator BARTLETT —You need a headcount once a day?

Ms Godwin —They need to provide us with information that they are there once a day, but obviously they would check more frequently than that, because if, for example, they find that someone is not there at a particular time, if it has been 24 hours since they did the last count, it is hard to know just where that person might be. So it is common practice in centres for a census, muster or headcount—or all the various terms that are used—to be conducted a number of times a day. Different methodologies are used in different centres. 

Mr Metcalfe —As a general observation, the increase in perimeter security that we have seen in recent years has been a direct result of the fact that there have been escapes from detention centres and security, therefore, had to be increased to prevent that. At the end of the day, that is the fundamental basis that detention centres are there for—to ensure that people are available. If they can walk out, then it is really defeating the purpose of what the law requires. We have seen a number of incidents at Maribyrnong, Villawood, Woomera, Curtin and Port Hedland where people have decamped without authority. That has led to a requirement that the perimeter security as well as internal checking responds to that particular issue. 

Senator ALLISON —If I can return to the question of sleeplessness, if the accounts of detainees are to be believed, there is a very high level of sleeping problems and depression, which is not surprising. Can you provide the committee with data on the number of detainees who have been provided with sleeping pills? It has also been suggested to me that some are forced to take sleeping pills, that guards in fact stand by them and ensure that they are swallowed. Can you indicate whether that is practised as well? Can you provide a schedule of the medication currently being taken and the doses of that medication together with medical records—I am not asking for names—so we can have some idea about the claims by detainees that there is a high level of medication? That would give us some indication as well of the incidence of depression and/or other disorders. 

Ms Godwin —I would certainly want to take on notice your question about whether we could provide you with some sort of schedule. I am not attempting to be unhelpful, but clearly I would need to be conscious of the privacy issues, particularly when it comes to medical—

Senator ALLISON —I am not asking for names or anything. 

Ms Godwin —I understand that, but I just need to take it on notice to see whether there are any issues: 

Senator ALLISON —Why would there be a privacy issue if there were no names associated with the records?

Ms Godwin —Because Maribyrnong is a small centre and the numbers of individuals are small in any given category, if you start to do a schedule according to adults, children, males and females, it gets down to very small cohorts. There could in fact be, without giving the person's name, a potential to identify the individual. I truly mean this; I am not trying to be unhelpful.

Senator ALLISON —I understand.

CHAIR —I think it is very important, Senator Allison, to take that on notice. The release of medical records in any way is a matter which has to be handled very sensitively. 

Senator ALLISON —Sure. Might I say that the accusations that were being made are very serious. I have taken it upon myself to follow this up, because if it is correct, as I said, it is a very serious matter indeed. 

Ms Godwin —I understand.

CHAIR —I understand that. From our side, we have seen certain individuals post medical records of details from other centres on the World Wide Web, on the Internet, which I think also has similar impact on privacy issues and the sensitivity of medical records, so I think it is important to handle this sensitively. 

Ms Godwin —Absolutely. I thank you for that. Can I say one thing, though, in respect of the comment about detention officers standing there while people take medication. That is in fact a duty of care issue. If people are not supervised when they are given medication, that could in fact be dangerous if it were hoarded into a toxic dose. That is, as I say, a duty of care issue. It would be quite standard practice, generally speaking, in a number of centres for people to be supervised when they are taking serious medication. 

Senator ALLISON —I understand. Another matter related to sleep is blankets. I understand that at Maribyrnong the issue is one very thin, small grey blanket and if detainees request a second they can have a second but not beyond that. Can you confirm that this is sanctioned by DIMIA and the reason for it and why it is that blankets are not permitted to be brought into the centre by visitors when the detainees request them?

Ms Godwin —The latter part of your question I will take on notice, because I do not know that that is the case and, if it is, I am not sure what the reason is. I will take that one on notice, and I know you have asked the manager at the centre the same question, so we will check that one out. I understand that when you visited the centre there was an issue with the heating—in fact, there had been a problem with the heating. That has now been rectified and the centre heating is back to its normal arrangement. Generally speaking, people have two blankets, because that is what is generally required when the heating is working. In the period when the heating was not working, the advice that I have is that people were offered additional blankets, but the heating was rectified fairly quickly. That is the advice that I have, and I will check that to see whether there is anything further that I can add. 

Senator ALLISON —Perhaps you would also check the advice that I received, which was that for three weeks—Melbourne has been quite cold now, especially overnight, for a good period of time—requests were made for heating to be turned on and it was only quite recently that that occurred.

Ms Godwin —It may be a problem with heating in bedrooms.

Senator ALLISON —My understanding is that each of the detainees had two blankets and that is all.

Ms Godwin —My understanding is that it was in bedrooms.

Senator ALLISON —As I said, they were very thin. 

Ms Godwin —I understand the point you are making and I will certainly check it. My understanding is, though, that the issue with the heating was not that it was not being turned on but that there was actually a problem with the heating and that there had been an offer to provide additional blankets. But, as I said, that is the advice I have at the moment and I will check that to confirm. 

Senator ALLISON —Thank you. Why are there no doors on the bedrooms?

Ms Godwin —Again, I would need to check that in relation to Maribyrnong. As you are probably aware, Maribyrnong is quite an old centre. It was built, I think, nearly 30 years ago. There have been issues to do with fire safety—not that we have had a fire there; I do not mean that. There have been issues to do with doors and whether the corridors were wide enough to accommodate having doors that open one way or the other and whether there were security issues. That is a factor in a number of places. The family rooms have doors, as I understand it, but the dormitories, mostly for single men, do not have doors. But they are dormitories. 

Senator ALLISON —Given the requirement—I forget the name of the document but it was in some management document—or undertaking that privacy would be afforded to detainees, I wonder how you achieve that at Maribyrnong.

Ms Godwin —That is in the immigration detention standards. I am dredging from memory here. I think we have got a copy which I could refer to at some point. Essentially, as I recall it, the requirement is that people be provided as much privacy as is possible given the physical infrastructure, which of course is provided to the service provider—that is not their infrastructure. For example, we would expect that people are not walked in on when they are in the bathrooms and those sorts of things. Clearly, there are limitations because there are not individual rooms and there is not the possibility in a dormitory setting for people to have complete privacy in that sort of situation. 

Senator ALLISON —I put it to you that there is no privacy anywhere—in bathrooms or elsewhere 

Ms Godwin —The toilets have doors and people can shower—

Senator ALLISON —It would be good if you could check that. It is my understanding that neither the toilets, nor the bathrooms, nor the bedrooms, nor any rooms have doors. 

Ms Godwin —I will check that. 

Senator ALLISON —Could you also confirm that question of how privacy is arranged? It is my understanding as well that ACM staff were given training—whatever `training' means I am not sure—on this question of appropriate management of detainees and ways of treating people culturally appropriately and otherwise. Given that it is my understanding that many ACM staff come from criminal prison arrangements, what training is provided and have all staff been through that training?

Ms Godwin —Yes. It is a requirement that all detention officers complete a six-week training program prior to taking up duties. The service provider then provides refresher training on an annual basis. The initial training that people go through prior to taking up duties has a number of components to it, including cultural awareness and communication. It is the practice of the service provider, generally speaking, to try to source external consultants for the provision of things like cultural awareness. I am aware—and this is not the same for every training course—that they have used people like the Refugee Council of Australia, various torture and trauma service providers et cetera, to provide—

Senator ALLISON —So this is six weeks full time for staff who have previously already worked in some sort of prison environment; is that correct?

Ms Godwin —Yes, that is my understanding. It is a program for detention officers. It has recently been reviewed to make sure that it had all of the appropriate components in it. 

Senator McKIERNAN —But it is not a requirement for prison officers, or persons recruited to the positions, to have a prison background?

Ms Godwin —No, it is definitely not a requirement.

Senator McKIERNAN —I think there might have been the inference in the question that there was that requirement there—

Senator ALLISON —No. The inference, if you like, was that perhaps those who had previously been prison officers would not do the full six-week course.

Ms Godwin —I will check that, but that is not my understanding. There are some officers who have worked in both prisons and detention facilities, and some officers who have only worked in detention facilities. Presumably, the service provider has some officers who have just worked in their prisons, given that the service provider has contracts in a number of states, I think, to provide correctional facilities or managed correctional facilities as well as detention facilities. 

Senator ALLISON —What action does DIMIA take on complaints by detainees that there is inappropriate treatment of them by guards or prison officers, or whatever you call them.

Ms Godwin —Detention officers. 

Senator ALLISON —Some, for instance, said to me that they felt the every half-hour headcount was conducted by some detention officers who were prone to use that sort of technique as a harassment tool. What measures do you have in place to ensure that complaints against particular officers can be made without any repercussions from or retribution by those officers towards the detainees?

Mr Farmer —Could I just ask a question? You said there were allegations of an `every half-hour headcount'. That is the first time I have heard you say `half-hour'. I thought you were talking about two hours beforehand. Have I missed something?

Senator ALLISON —The guards indicated to me, as did DIMIA, at the centre that they were two-hour headcounts, but the guard also indicated that they were more frequent in some instances to avoid the regularity. But the detainees said that some officers conduct those headcounts more frequently, and as frequently as every half-hour, depending on the officer. 

Mr Farmer —As a general practice?

Senator ALLISON —Depending on the officer. 

Mr Farmer —I think we have undertaken to reply to this question, but can I just say that I am not aware of that sort of practice as a general practice. That would seem an unusual management—

Senator ALLISON —It seemed unusual to the detainees, too, who were woken every time it happens. 

Mr Farmer —That is what they are saying, but we will look into this. I do not necessarily accept that at face value. 
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Senator ALLISON —I do not accept it, either. I am just indicating that that is what was said to me. It seems to me there is some responsibility for us to know whether it takes place or not. Two hours seems to me to be too frequent. I think you have indicated that that is something of a surprise as well.

CHAIR —Senator Allison, could we perhaps spend the next five to 10 minutes in your area and then changed to another senator—

Senator ALLISON —There will be some questions I am happy to put on notice, but there are a couple of critical issues that I would like to pursue.

CHAIR —Could you go down the road of those critical issues, and then I might just ask you to give way to another senator for a while. We will come back to you if there is more time this evening. 

Senator ALLISON —Okay. There was discussion earlier about the four-metre high razor wire fence which now surrounds the entire area. Access to a grassed exercise area was promised, I think, in the Senate committee's report into detention centres more than a year ago, and certainly six months ago the fence was up around this area. But even as I speak there is no general access to the area. Given that most of the detainees, I would imagine, pose no security threat, it is hard to understand why, when this is completely surrounded by such a fence, it is not available. Can you shed any light on that?

Ms Godwin —The fence is there, but there has been a range of issues about the fence. Without delaying the committee too long, part of the issue is that in the case of Maribyrnong the project to build the fence was in fact managed by the department of finance and not by us. There has been a range of issues around the detailed completion of the project, including some problems with final completion with some of the security issues to do with the fence—the computer system and various things. As a result—again, this is the advice I have—the green area is being used but only under supervision. So you are right: there is not general access to the green area, which is what we would hope to move to as soon as we can, but the area is being used by groups under supervision. 

Senator ALLISON —Today's advice was that only one person at a time was permitted to be in the area and then there would be four detention officers present at the time. Why would there be the need for such a small number—

Ms Godwin —Sorry? Today's advice from whom?

Senator ALLISON —Maribyrnong.

Ms Godwin —Sorry, are you saying that is from the centre or from a detainee?

Senator ALLISON —From a detainee.

Ms Godwin —Again, that is not my advice, but I will check.

Senator ALLISON —Could you provide me with information on the size of the groups that are now being allowed and why it is the case. One would have thought that if they are under supervision it should be possible for more than a small group to be there. There are three children in the centre at present, I think you indicated?

Ms Godwin —Yes.

Senator ALLISON —One of those children is aged five, as I understand it, and has only recently been able to be sent to a kindergarten. Can you explain why it was that kindergarten was not provided for this child when he or she was at kindergarten age 12 months or so ago?

Ms Godwin —I am aware that two of the three children are attending kindergarten. As I understand it, one of the children turned five only reasonably recently. I would need to check precisely but, given that the schooling arrangements are made on a local basis with the local school, it may well depend on what was able to be arranged with the school. There is an education officer—a qualified teacher—at the centre, and there have been programs available in the centre. It may well be, as I say, just a question of what was able to be arranged in that particular circumstance. I am trying to be a bit circumspect here, given that it is such a small group. As I pointed out before, it is possible to identify people just because the groups are so small.

Senator ALLISON —And the mother is not allowed to accompany the child or children to kindergarten. Is that decision being reviewed?

Ms Godwin —I am aware that that was a question you asked. I do not know the answer to that. It is standard practice for detention staff to take the children to school. As to whether there is a possibility of reviewing it in a particular case, I would need to talk to the staff there.

Senator ALLISON —It was suggested that there was a detainee at Maribyrnong who had tuberculosis for a period of about seven months. I gather this person is not there still. Can you confirm that that was the case? If it was, why is it that inoculation against the disease was not provided for other detainees? 

Ms Godwin —I can confirm that there was a detainee at Maribyrnong who was diagnosed with tuberculosis. That person was appropriately treated, in consultation with the state health authorities. The provisions made for other detainees were similarly discussed with the state health authorities—the public health authorities. Inoculation would depend upon whether that was regarded as necessary by the state health authorities. We would take whatever advice we had from them in that sort of situation.

Senator ALLISON —Is it possible to provide that advice?

Ms Godwin —I will ask, yes.

Senator ALLISON —How many detainees at Maribyrnong have been diagnosed with mental illness of one sort or another—depression or other disorders?

Ms Godwin —I do not have that information, Senator. Without an individual examination of their individual medical records, I am not sure that it would be possible to get it. We do not keep statistics in quite that way, because the issues of people's health are a matter between the individual and their doctor.

Senator ALLISON —You would have thought that if there is widespread depression, widespread sickness of that sort, this would be a matter of broader concern than the individual and their doctor, surely.

Ms Godwin —It would depend very considerably. A number of people in Maribyrnong are only there for fairly short periods of time. Some people come in with pre-existing conditions. We would expect those pre-existing conditions to continue to be appropriately treated. Some people are more extensive users of medical services than others, just as is true in the community. So there are a variety of issues. As I say, it is something that would require specific reference to their individual medical records.

Senator ALLISON —So there is no inquiry into the medical conditions which could be attributable to the conditions in which detainees are held? Surely this would be of interest to the department. If people are coming in and getting sick there, that is a different matter from those who arrive with a sickness and get treatment for it.

Ms Godwin —I guess the key issue from our perspective is that people's medical requirements are appropriately attended to. If there are people whose medical circumstances are such that they require specialist treatment or hospitalisation or indeed cannot be managed in the detention environment, we would respond to all of those issues. I guess the question from our perspective is not so much where the condition came from. As I say, people may well come into a centre with a pre-existing condition. The issue is that they get appropriate treatment while they are there, and there is a variety of ways in which that would happen.

Senator ALLISON —The rules are said by detainees to be applied arbitrarily by certain detention officers and not others. One of those appears to be about what might be brought into the centre. I note the rules say that only alcohol, mobile phones, medication, glass or metal are not allowed to be brought in, but there are instances where other items—blankets is one of them—are refused. What is your understanding of the consistency of those rules? How clear do you think they are to visitors?

Ms Godwin —It is a little while since I have been to Maribyrnong, so I cannot speak from personal reference there. But certainly in other centres that I have visited recently there is a big sign up on the wall explaining to visitors that there are a variety of things that are prohibited. Beyond that, the service provider is required to ensure the safety and good order of the centre. There may well be provisions instituted from time to time in specific centres to respond to particular issues that have arisen in that centre. There would be variations between centres in respect of some aspects, but there would also be a core of issues that would be consistent—mobile phones being an example. If your point is that people have asked to bring in blankets and that has not been permitted, that was raised earlier and I indicated that I would take that on notice.

Senator ALLISON —Most recently I understand that flowers are not permitted to be brought in. They were once allowed.

Ms Godwin —I would need to check.

Senator ALLISON —In relation to rules for visitors, I understand that at Maribyrnong there has been a new rule introduced whereby visitors are not permitted to bring in notebooks and pencils.

Ms Godwin —I will take that one on notice as well.

Senator CROSSIN —Can you provide me with a date on which the work at the temporary detention centre at Coonawarra naval base was commenced?

Mr Metcalfe —We were asked a very similar question by Senator Murphy earlier.

Senator CROSSIN —The answer you gave, though, was the announcement that it was going to be erected, which was on 23 August 2001. 
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Senator ALLISON —Can I ask about the rules regarding—and this is not specifically Maribyrnong—pregnant women who give birth. What are the arrangements for their husbands to be present and her children to be around? What are the general rules?

Ms Godwin —The rules vary from centre to centre depending on the circumstances of the centre and the requirements of local health authorities. The other point I should make is that our requirement for the service provider is that, except in emergencies where a birth happens quickly and unexpectedly, expectant mothers should be able to give birth in a hospital, as is the case for the Australian community. What that means of course is that, as I say, it varies according to the circumstances of the individual centres. For example, at Woomera the local health authority—and this applies to everyone in the community and not just the detention centre—requires that people from that area go to Port Augusta, I think, and that they go at a predetermined time prior to the birth of the child.

The question of whether other family members would be there or would simply visit would also depend on the nature of the family. There have been instances, if I recall correctly, of families where the woman has arrived pregnant but there is no husband but she has other children. In that situation, we would try to arrange for the children or the child to be with her or in close proximity. In other instances we have arranged for people to go down to visit or for there to be telephone contact on a regular basis, or whatever. As I say, it varies considerably according to the centre.

Senator ALLISON —Can I ask you then to check Maribyrnong and to check the most recent birth at Maribyrnong to see whether the children were permitted to be with the mother at that time. My understanding is that they were not; they were left at the centre. That seems to me to be an unacceptable situation. I also have advice that in another centre the father of a child was not permitted to be present at the birth despite wishing to be so. Can you explain the rules surrounding that incident? I cannot tell you where it was. I do not think it was Maribyrnong, but I understand it happened.

Ms Godwin —I will take both of those on notice, except to say that the circumstances vary so widely that, in a sense, it requires a case-by-case consideration. It would also go to the question of what the hospital was able to cope with. All sorts of different things would come into play. It is sometimes a question of just looking at the individual case.

Senator ALLISON —There is the case of a detainee at Maribyrnong with significant burns which were incurred at Port Hedland. I think boiling water was the cause. It is my understanding that medical reports and medical treatment suggested skin grafts, but this detainee has not been provided with that medical attention. Can you indicate why this is not the case?

Ms Godwin —Again, I would have to take the individual circumstance on notice. But, generally speaking, if there is firm medical advice of a particular sort of treatment, that would normally be done. It is a question of whether it is medically indicated or whether it is regarded to be cosmetic surgery. Certainly, not just in that situation but in a variety of situations—we have assisted people with things like triple bypasses, cancer treatment and a whole variety of different treatments—it would go to the question of whether it was medically indicated rather than a cosmetic question.

Senator ALLISON —The suggestion made to me is that it was medically indicated but that it was not forthcoming. 

Ms Godwin —I will take the specific case on notice. 

Senator ALLISON —Just getting back to Maribyrnong again, another suggestion was that there were very frequent fire drills and that detainees were required to stand for lengthy periods of time outdoors. There was a report that detention officers used this occasion to harass people and that they were called by number and generally treated badly. The centre confirms that there were five in the last 12 months. Can you indicate why it is that such frequent drills are necessary, and will you investigate this question of the length of time spent during those drills?

Ms Godwin —I will certainly check to the extent that we can whether there is a record of the time that the fire drill took. I would need to check whether such information was available. The question of the existence of fire drills, of course, though, is something we require the service provider to do as part of their appropriate duty of care and risk management. 

Senator ALLISON —How often do you have fire drills in your office?

Ms Godwin —Once a month or once every six or eight weeks—something like that. 

Senator ALLISON —It is a very rare occasion in the parliament, I can tell you. 

CHAIR —Please, do not wish that on us, Senator Allison. Sometimes we wish it was rarer. The alarm goes off and it is sometimes hard to tell what is required. 

Senator ALLISON —There was a hunger strike at Maribyrnong not too long ago. As a result of that, a meeting was held, as I understand it, and a so-called log of claims was developed by detainees. Is it possible to have a copy of that log of suggestions or claims? As I understand it, the then management agreed to those claims. Is it possible to get an update on the status of each of them and whether or not the department has agreed that they are justified?

Ms Godwin —Again, I will take the detail on notice. I am certainly aware that there was a situation at Maribyrnong—that there were discussions with detainees. Whether there is something that can be called a log of claims, I do not know and I would have to check that, but we can certainly work that through with centre management and have a response for you on that. 

Senator ALLISON —Was the department present at that meeting at which that so-called log of claims was discussed?

Ms Godwin —As I said, I do not know if there was a log of claims as such and I do not know if the department was present. I would have to check all of that. 

Senator ALLISON —I notice in the booklet provided to detainees that there is mention of dangers associated with the security strap wire. Can you explain what this is and whether detainees have been injured by it?

Ms Godwin —No, I cannot. I would have to check what the language means. It would certainly be standard in centres to point out to people that there are certain security features such as razor wire that are dangerous if you go near them. 

Senator ALLISON —This was not a matter raised with me by detainees, but I did notice it in the booklet produced by ACM. There is a warning, as I said, about the injury that might be caused by it. I would appreciate understanding what the advice is.

Ms Godwin —I will certainly check it; but, as I say, it certainly would be consistent with their duty of care requirements to warn detainees if there are sources of danger in the centre. 

Senator ALLISON —One would hope so, but what exactly is that source of danger is what I am asking about.

Ms Godwin —I will check the language, but it may well be something to do with the razor wire. 

Senator ALLISON —A question arose a number of times about the accommodation charges. In fact, this seemed to cause a fairly high level of anxiety—the notion that if you are in this detention centre for 12 months or even three years that would amount to a charge of some $50,000 a year for this luxurious accommodation. What is the routine or the requirement with regard to informing detainees about the circumstances in which the charge will be made of them?

Ms Godwin —Again, I would need to check the specific details. A charge may be levied at the end of a period of detention if the person is not granted a visa, and it would usually be identified as a debt to the Commonwealth if somebody was removed from Australia. It would then be a debt that would be required to be repaid if the person was attempting to re-enter Australia on a visa. That would be one of the considerations that would be taken into account. I think that there is information to detainees when they are taken into detention that that may be the case. But, as I said, it depends on their individual circumstances whether a debt is raised in a particular instance. 

Senator ALLISON —Can I put it to you that detainees are all being told that they will incur a debt and not being given advice that if, for instance, they are granted refugee status there is no debt. Does that apply to them?

Ms Godwin —As I said, I will take the detail on notice, but that may well go to the particular mechanics that surround this issue. As I understand it, the debt has to be raised and then waived. So the requirement to tell people that a debt may be incurred relates to all detainees. The question of whether it would ultimately be waived is something that happens at the end of the process.

Senator ALLISON —Are there any cases where the debt is not waived, where a detainee is given some sort of residential status?

Ms Godwin —I would have to take that on notice. I am not certain. 

Senator ALLISON —Without going back to their original country?

Ms Godwin —If they were granted a visa in Australia—that is, they have made an application here and were granted a visa and released from detention—I would have to take on notice whether there was any circumstance such as you have described. 

Mr Davis —In relation to detention debts, there is a debt raised to the Commonwealth when someone leaves detention. The Department of Finance and Administration has a delegation from its minister to waive debts. We do not have such a delegation. When someone is granted refugee status, for example, the debt is written off in our accounts but the debt technically still exists. But we do not pursue it and we do not require refugees who are given that status to repay that debt. For those removed, the debt stands and is recorded in our systems for repayment and is part of consideration of any re-entry into Australia. But technically the debts are not waived. Technically, they still exist, but they are not pursued and they are written off by the Commonwealth. 

ATTORNEY-GENERAL'S PORTFOLIO : Australian Federal Police

Senator ALLISON —Are those operational reviews publicly available?

Mr Keelty —No, they are not. They are to do with the internal adherence to policies. We tend to do all of ours under section 282 by way of certificate. I do not have section 282; I have been caught in this position before, before this committee. We do not generally do ours unless they are done by certificate. The provision I think you are referring to, 282 subsection (1), is not widely accessed by members of the AFP.

Senator ALLISON —Okay. Who are the operational reviews for and who has access to them?

Mr Keelty —The reviews are internal. Access to them is for the management teams in each individual area.

Senator ALLISON —Minister, do you call for those reviews? Are you aware of them? Do you see them for any reason?

Senator Ellison —Those reviews are internal, as I understand it. But the Ombudsman's report is tabled in the parliament.

Senator ALLISON —Would the Ombudsman have access to them?

Mr Keelty —The answer to that question is no. I might have misled you. The Ombudsman does not in fact audit the CCRs. The audit is conducted by our internal audit area within the AFP, so that is not reported on in parliament.

Senator ALLISON —Minister, is this review something you would be interested in? Can I suggest this might be a matter for you to at least take some interest in?

Senator Ellison —This is not an area like a telephone intercept. It is information which I am advised is often on the public record. I think that the internal auditing is sufficient. The AFP is a very professional body and I have every faith in it. I do not think that you need to have ministerial involvement at that level.

Senator ALLISON —I think you said, Commissioner Keelty, that none of your 24,903 requests was done without a certificate. Can you confirm that?

Mr Keelty —That is correct. Can I perhaps help you by pointing out that a telephone intercept that might be on a mobile phone, for example, where a person has on previous occasions—and I think the figures you are talking about are dated figures; I cannot remember the year that you are talking about—

Senator ALLISON —They are 2001.

Mr Keelty —That would be 2000-01. Since that time the government has amended the legislation, under the telecommunications interception legislation, and an important part of that legislative change was to allow warrants on the person rather than the phone. The modus operandi of a number of people was to change mobile phones or to change the SIM card of a mobile phone and, if we had an existing warrant, that negated that warrant on that phone. So it meant we had to find out what phone that person was then using. The way we do that is through a call charge record. That call charge record then allows us, in evidence provided under affidavit, to obtain the telephone intercept and to `connect' the number to the individual. Hence there are a large number of these. No doubt that is why you asked the question. A large number of these are through the operation of the previous legislation. I would anticipate there would be a significant reduction in call charge records for the financial year since the new legislation.

Senator ALLISON —Are you suggesting this is an unusually high number? If we went back a previous year it would not be as high and subsequent years are not going to be of that order?

Mr Keelty —I do not know about previous years. What I am projecting is that in future years it will reduce because of the changes to the legislation.

Senator ALLISON —You have agreed to take on notice my question about the sort of information and the documents that were disclosed. Could I ask about, in particular, public servants and investigations that you were undertaking—at least a couple of years ago you were; I am not sure whether or not you are doing it now—into public servants and leaks? Would that be a category of persons about whom you would be seeking disclosure of information or documents?

Mr Keelty —It might be from time to time, depending on the circumstances of the investigation. The use of call charge records is often to identify the method of communication being used by an individual under investigation. It might not be possible to say how many telephone intercepts, for example. Subsequent issues over telephone intercepts have been related to a leak inquiry, but we could probably attack it from the other way around by looking at the leak inquiries we have done to see what records we have approached the telcos for. 

Senator ALLISON —Have there been any prosecutions for leak inquiries in the last year?

Mr Keelty —In the current financial year, 10 matters have been referred for investigation. Nine other matters were carried over from the previous year. Six of those matters have been finalised, one is before the court, and eight are still active under investigation, and there are another four matters being finalised. 

Senator ALLISON —The six that were finalised: were they finalised through court action? 

Mr Keelty —I have not got that detail in front of me. I will have to take that on notice.

Senator ALLISON —Is it possible to provide information about those in terms of the departments involved?

Mr Keelty —Yes. The Civil Aviation Safety Authority has two matters carried forward from 2000-01; the Department of Employment, Workplace Relations and Small Business has one active investigation; the Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade has one carried forward from 2000-01 and another investigation that has been referred during 2001-02; the Department of Immigration and Multicultural and Indigenous Affairs has referred two matters during 2001-02; the Department of Communications, Information Technology and the Arts has referred two matters during 2001-02; the Department of Defence has referred one matter during 2001-02, and we carried forward three other matters from 2000-01; the Department of Transport and Communications has referred one matter during 2001-02; the Office of National Assessments has referred one matter during 2001-02; the Department of the Prime Minister and Cabinet has referred one matter during 2001-02, there is one matter carried over from 2000-01, and there is another matter carried over from 1999-2000. Then there is one from a non-Commonwealth government department.

Senator ALLISON —Has information been sought under the Telecommunications Act about parliamentarians' records and other information?

Mr Keelty —With regard to those figures I just spoke to you about?

Senator ALLISON —No, 2001—the subject of the 24,903. Yes, I will ask the question about both. We can have an answer about the 24,000 and more generally speaking.

Mr Keelty —I am trying to think whether we have in fact had cause to do that. I am thinking through where we might have a threat against a parliamentarian or where there might be a matter that I am not thinking of in terms of leaks. I am not sure that I can give you that answer today. I will take that on notice.

Senator ALLISON —Has this information also been sought from detention centres and phone calls made by detainees, bearing in mind the investigations being conducted into so-called people-smuggling?

Mr Keelty —Perhaps we can separate the two issues: people-smuggling might be considered as different from detainees. The answer is: in relation to the detainees, not to my knowledge, but I will correct that record if it is not right; in relation to people-smuggling, yes.

Senator ALLISON —We do have some people-smugglers, or people charged with people-smuggling, in detention.

Mr Keelty —I would expect that people charged with people-smuggling would not be in a detention centre but in a remand centre.

Senator ALLISON —Today's Age has a big story about one in Maribyrnong. He is also an asylum seeker.

Mr Keelty —I have explained my views about newspaper stories to this committee before, but I will take that on notice.

Senator ALLISON —He is an asylum seeker and he has just been to court on people-smuggling charges, so I do not think you can say that he is not a people-smuggler.

Senator McKIERNAN —Has he been convicted?

Senator ALLISON —Yes.

Senator McKIERNAN —He has been convicted of people-smuggling and he is in the Maribyrnong detention centre?

Senator ALLISON —Yes.

CHAIR —According to the Age.

Senator McKIERNAN —I am looking at my colleague Senator Cooney. I am sure he would have a copy of the Age with him.

Senator COONEY —I think I have a copy of the Age here.

Mr Keelty —I will try to get an answer for that. I will certainly stand qualified on my previous views about newspapers.

Senator ALLISON —I will add another category, if you like. Could you also provide information about whether there were whistleblowers about whom information was sought?

Mr Keelty —I am not sure that we would reasonably be able to identify those, but we will come back with an answer. 

ATTORNEY-GENERAL'S PORTFOLIO : Australian Federal Police

Senator ALLISON —At what point, or on what grounds, does the AFP consider a request under section 282 or related sections as justified?

Mr Keelty —Within the constraints of the legislation.

Senator COONEY —I have some information which may help. It is in the Age. He got a four-month suspended sentence. So the Magistrates Court would have given him a four-month suspended sentence and taken him back to Maribyrnong.

Senator ALLISON —He has always been in Maribyrnong; he has never been elsewhere. I was asking: at what point and on what grounds does the AFP consider a request to be justified?

Mr Keelty —In general terms we understand that this is, and can be, an invasion of privacy. That is why we have some of the internal safety nets, if you like, particularly the sign-off by a commissioned officer. There is also the safety net provided by the legislation itself in terms of the serious nature of the matter under investigation.

Senator ALLISON —I will ask the question a slightly different way. The legislation says `reasonably necessary for the enforcement of criminal law'. I was wondering if you could just expand a bit on how that is actually applied.

Mr Keelty —First and foremost, there would be an offence identified. The requirement for the call charge record would be considered necessary by the investigator for the furtherance of the investigation into the criminal matter. The investigator would then put a request through to a commissioned officer, who would either accept or reject the request. From that point it goes to the telco which, under the legislation, is also obliged to make sure that the requesting agency is requesting from within the provisions of the legislation. The material would then be returned to the investigator.

Senator ALLISON —I think that is a process answer rather than a general question about how the interpretation is made of what is `reasonably necessary for the enforcement of criminal law'. It is a question about what is reasonable, I suppose. I am just asking you to expand on that.

Mr Keelty —Each case would be judged on its own merits. Certainly, there would have to be a link between the request and the criminal offence that is under investigation. It is not a fishing expedition, but it is a direct link between the matter under investigation and the requirement for the record.

Senator ALLISON —There is a protocol or some sort of guideline that has been developed so this can be determined?

Mr Keelty —That is right.

Senator ALLISON —Is it possible to provide the committee with a copy of that protocol?

Mr Keelty —Yes, we can. If my memory serves me correctly, I think we have provided that once before but we can do that again—

Senator ALLISON —My apologies if I am asking for something that has been provided.

Mr Keelty —as part of this series of answers.

Senator ALLISON —Thank you very much.

Senator COONEY —It may be embarrassing to Senator Crane, who is sitting next to me, but can I ask this question either of the minister or of Mr Keelty. When we were here last time we raised the issue of the proceedings against Senator Crane and it seems still not to have been resolved. From time to time questions are raised here in I hope an appropriate way and answers are given. There is no doubt that a case in particular involving a person who went on to be a minister was disposed of very quickly. I am wondering what has become of Senator Crane's case. Senator Crane has been through a preselection process where he was not successful. You would always wonder whether a difference was made because of an unresolved matter. If a person is guilty of something and is convicted and dealt with, that is only proper and right, but should people be hung out to dry in effect and suffer consequences which I do not think it was the intention of the law they should suffer? I am just wondering where the matter has got to and why it has not been resolved one way or the other by now.

Mr Keelty —At my last appearance before the committee I did update to some degree where the matter was at. Further to that, the matter, since it has been back with the AFP, is still the subject of investigation. We are still working with the Department of Finance and Administration and we are obviously trying to conclude it as quickly as possible. We are working as best we can with the Department of Finance and Administration to conclude the matter.

Senator COONEY —I am speaking now from an abysmal ignorance of how investigations are carried out, but you would imagine that there is some sort of finite time—I myself am about to face finite time in terms of my presence in the Senate—in circumstances like this where there must be some sort of border, you would reckon, when people say, `Look, there is no evidence there,' or `The evidence is not such as would justify prosecution,' or `The evidence is such as would justify prosecution,' and on we go. I do not want to go into the details of how the decision is made. All I am saying is that you would reckon there is a point at which a decision is made. Perhaps I ought to ask Senator Crane to go through the details. This has been under investigation since when? 

Senator CRANE —Nearly four years.

Senator COONEY —Nearly four years.

CHAIR —Senator Crane, are there matters which you wish to raise?

Senator CRANE —I have a number of matters. They relate to procedural matters. I am fully aware that it is not appropriate to raise operational matters here. If in the moment I do stray, please tell me they are operational matters, but that is not my intent. The first question I would like to ask is: on what date was the complaint against me lodged with the AFP? We have been informed now by the DPP that they were informed in approximately the middle of August 1998. 

Mr Keelty —Madam Chair, I would like to raise a point of order.

CHAIR —Yes, Commissioner. 

Mr Keelty —Senator Crane is currently under investigation by the Australian Federal Police. I am the Commissioner of the Australian Federal Police. Any questions asked or answers given by me are protected under parliamentary privilege. However, they are also subject to limitations in their further use by either a prosecutor or a defence counsel. Under those circumstances, I think it is inappropriate that the person who is under investigation by the Australian Federal Police is asking the Australian Federal Police any question at all about the investigation that is currently under way.

CHAIR —Commissioner, I take the point that you are making. I listened with interest to questions which also pertained to this matter that the senator was asking of the DPP yesterday. I might perhaps seek Senator Crane's response to the matter that you raise. It is, as we acknowledged earlier, an extremely sensitive area but, as Senator Cooney also indicated, a matter of concern not just for the individuals but for the Senate itself as to how such matters proceed.

Senator COONEY —I can understand what Mr Keelty is saying. I wonder whether it would be appropriate to get some sort of ruling—I think this is important—from the Clerk.

CHAIR —I can certainly seek advice from the Clerk on the matter, Senator Cooney. I think that is a very good suggestion.

Senator CRANE —I have taken advice about what I can do and what I cannot do. It is not my intent to go outside the standing orders and what I am allowed to do. I do not think it is appropriate also that a point of order should be upheld which would stop me in total from asking questions on procedural matters that have been involved now over almost four years. There is no doubt that I was maliciously and vexatiously damaged in my preselection as a result of what has occurred. I have lodged, as you are aware, a counterclaim. I do not think you can call it a counterclaim, but I have asked for the matter to be investigated with regard to certain documents that surfaced in the press et cetera. Madam Chair, if the name of the person—and I think this is the real test—with regard to these procedural questions I wish to ask were anything other than Senator Crane, there would be no restriction whatsoever in my asking those particular questions. I think that has to be the test in the situation, because I think they are important questions and I think procedure is incredibly important. I sat with my colleague here on the inquiry into search and entry, and we obviously made recommendations. I just put my case that these questions are to do with procedure. I would ask that they should be allowed on the basis that I am not going into operational matters.

CHAIR —Senator Crane, I do not for one moment dispute the importance of the matters that you raise but, at the same time, I am very conscious of the concerns that the commissioner has raised, and I think they are genuine and serious concerns also. 

Senator CRANE —I understand.

CHAIR —I would like to seek the advice of the Clerk on this matter. I will ask the secretary to facilitate that as a matter of priority—urgency, in fact. The committee has further questions for the Australian Federal Police, and I suggest that we will continue with those as we seek some advice. I know that both Senator McKiernan and Senator Cooney have further questions, and we will come back to this matter before the conclusion of the Australian Federal Police's appearance today.

Senator CRANE —Thank you. I am chairing another committee, as you are aware.

CHAIR —I do understand that difficulty, Senator Crane. 
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